24 Collaboration Technologies

Gary M. Olson and Judith S. Olson

CONTENTS

24.1	Introduction	549
24.2	Adopting Groupware in Context	550
24.3	Technical Infrastructure	550
	24.3.1 Communication Tools	551
	24.3.2 E-mail	551
	24.3.3 Conferencing Tools: Voice, Video, Text	552
	24.3.4 Blogs	554
	24.3.5 Disaster Response	554
24.4	Coordination Support	554
	24.4.1 Meeting Support	554
	24.4.2 Workflow	556
	24.4.3 Group Calendars	556
	24.4.4 Awareness	556
24.5	Information Repositories	557
	24.5.1 Repositories of Shared Knowledge	557
	24.5.2 Wikis	558
	24.5.3 Capture and Replay	558
24.6	Social Computing	558
	24.6.1 Social Filtering, Recommender Systems	558
	24.6.2 Trust of People via the Technology	558
24.7	Integrated Systems	559
	24.7.1 Media Spaces	559
	24.7.2 Collaborative Virtual Environments	559
	24.7.3 Collaboratories	559
24.8	Conclusions	559
Ackr	owledgments	560
Refe	References	

24.1 INTRODUCTION

Computing and communication technologies have provided us with useful and powerful information resources, remote instruments, and tools for interacting with each other. These possibilities have also led to numerous social and organizational effects. These tools are of course just the latest in a long line of modern technologies that have changed human experience. Television and radio long ago broadened our awareness of and interest in activities all over the world. The telegraph and telephone enabled new forms of organization to emerge. The new technologies of computer-supported cooperative work (CSCW) are giving us greater geographical and temporal flexibility in carrying out our activities. They have also given us new modes of socializing.

In this chapter, we will review software designed to run over a network in support of the activities of a group or organization. These activities can occupy any of several combinations of same/different places and same/different times. Software has been designed for all four of these combinations. Early applications tended to focus on only one of these cells, but more recently, software that supports several cells and the transitions among them has emerged. These technologies support collaborative activities at many levels of social aggregation. Both the individual members of groups and the organizations in which they are embedded affect and are affected by collaborative technologies.

A brief note on terminology: in the several decades since networked computing made possible the kinds of software functions we review in this chapter, terms have changed. It was quite popular in the 1990s, for example, to refer to such software as "groupware." However, as Grudin and Poltrock (2011) point out in their excellent historical review of trends in CSCW, this term has largely been supplanted by terms more neutral as to the level of social aggregation involved. Hence, in this chapter we will use the term collaboration technology. All of the technologies we review have some bearing on how people collaborate with each other. And, again as Grudin and Poltrock point out, the field has moved beyond the focus on work only (see also Crabtree, Rodden, and Benford [2005]), though in some quarters this has been lamented (Schmidt [2010] sets forth the view that the focus on work is significant enough to merit an undiluted field of study).

CSCW emerged as a formal field of study in the mid-1980s, with conferences, journals, books, and university courses appearing that used this name. There were a number of important antecedents. The earliest efforts to create groupware used time-shared systems but were closely linked to the development of key ideas that propelled the personal computer revolution. Bush (1945) described a vision of something similar to today's World Wide Web in an influential essay published shortly after the end of World War II. Doug Engelbart's famous demonstration at the 1968 International Federation of Information Processing Societies meeting in San Francisco included a number of key groupware components (see Engelbart and English [1968]). These components included support for real-time face-to-face (FTF) meetings, audio and video conferencing, discussion databases, information repositories, and workflow support. Group decision-support systems and computer-supported meeting rooms were explored in a number of business schools (see McLeod [1992]; Kraemer and Pinsonneault [1990]). Work on office automation included many groupware elements, such as group workflow management, calendaring, e-mail, and document sharing (Ellis and Nutt 1980). A good summary of early historical trends as well as reprints of key early articles appear in three early anthologies: Greif (1988), Marca and Bock (1992), and Baecker (1993).

Today, there are a large number of commercial collaboration products. In addition, collaboration functions are now appearing as options in operating systems or specific applications (e.g., Windows, Mac, and Linux operating systems, suites of tools by Microsoft, Google, Yahoo!, and many others). Collaborative functionality has become widespread and familiar. However, there are still many research issues about how to design such systems and what effects they have on the individuals, groups, and organizations that use them.

Let us clarify what this chapter is about. It is not a general review of the field of CSCW—that would be an enormously larger task than we can take on here. Rather, we are going to focus on the kinds of collaborative applications that have emerged and achieved wide adoption. We will describe their characteristics, in terms of what functions they serve, and we will mention *some* of the studies done to evaluate them. These studies are a mix of controlled laboratory studies and studies of the technologies in real organizations. For many of the technologies we review, entire chapters could be written about the work that has been done with them. So we will, of necessity, have to be selective in our coverage. Our goal is to be *representative*, not exhaustive.

24.2 ADOPTING GROUPWARE IN CONTEXT

Collaborative systems are often intended to support groups, which are usually embedded in an organization. As a result, there are a number of issues that bear on the success of such systems. In a justly famous set of papers, Grudin (1988, 1994) pointed out a number of problems that such systems have (see also Markus and Connolly [1990]). In brief, he pointed out that developers of such systems need to be concerned with the following issues (Grudin 1994, p. 97; we here use the groupware terminology that he used in these original articles):

- Disparity in work and benefit. Groupware applications often require additional work from individuals who do not perceive a direct benefit from the use of the application.
- 2. Critical mass and Prisoner's dilemma problems. Groupware may not enlist the "critical mass" of users required to be useful, or can fail because it is never in any one individual's advantage to use it.
- Disruption of social processes. Groupware can lead to activity that violates social taboos, threatens existing political structures, or otherwise de-motivates users crucial to its success.
- 4. Exception handling. Groupware may not accommodate the wide range of exception handling and improvisation that characterizes much group activity.
- 5. Unobtrusive accessibility. Features that support group processes are used relatively infrequently, requiring unobtrusive accessibility and integration with more heavily used features.
- Difficulty of evaluation. The almost insurmountable obstacles to meaningful, generalizable analysis and evaluation of groupware prevent us from learning from experience.
- Failure of intuition. Intuitions in product development environments are especially poor for multiuser applications, resulting in bad management decisions and error-prone design processes.
- 8. The adoption process. Groupware requires more careful implementation (introduction) in the work-place than product developers have confronted.

There are reasons, however, for optimism. One specific example is Palen and Grudin's (2002) follow-up study of the adoption of group calendars. They found that organizational conditions in the 1990s were much more favorable for the adoption of group tools than they were in the 1980s. Further, the tools themselves had improved in reliability, functionality, and usability. There is increased "collaboration readiness" and "collaboration technology readiness" (Olson and Olson 2000) that has made for increased success of such applications. Indeed, the very rapid take-up of technologies like Wikipedia, Facebook, Twitter, and multiplayer games (and many other examples) is testament to the changed circumstances in current times. Certainly items 5 and 6 in Grudin's list are not as much of a challenge at present. But many of the others persist as serious challenges.

24.3 TECHNICAL INFRASTRUCTURE

Collaborative technology requires networks, and network infrastructure is a key enabler as well as a constraint on such systems. High-quality broadband networking has emerged across most parts of the developed world. Good access to the Internet is now common in many places other than the office, such as homes, hotels, coffee shops, airports, and even in many open spaces like parks. It is also the case that networking infrastructure is spreading throughout the world. However, heterogeneity in network conditions remains a major technical challenge. For instance, doing web conferencing when some participants are on slow dial-up lines and others are on fast advanced networks requires special coordination. Some good resources on the latest developments in networking are Comer (2008) and Kurose and Ross (2009).

The World Wide Web and its associated tools and standards have had a major impact on the possibilities for collaboration (Schatz and Hardin 1994; Berners-Lee 1999). Early collaboration technologies mostly consisted of standalone applications that had to be downloaded and run on each client machine. Increasingly, collaborative tools are written for the web, requiring only a web browser and perhaps some plug-ins. This makes it much easier for the user and also helps with matters such as version control. It also enables better interoperability across hardware and operating systems. The emergence of Web 2.0 has helped create a plethora of interesting applications in a wide variety of areas. For example, many conferencing tools are now accessed through a web browser. See Bell (2009) and Campasoto and Nilson (2011) for a variety of examples and details.

Another major technical advancement has been the explosion of collaborative functions on mobile devices. Laptops, personal digital assistants, wearables, pads, and cell phones provide access to information and people from almost anywhere. More and more applications are being written to operate across these diverse environments (e.g., Tang et al. 2001; Starner and Rhodes 2004; Wiltse and Nichols 2009; Gunaratne and Brush 2010). These devices vary in computational power, display size and characteristics, network bandwidth, and connection reliability, providing interesting technical challenges to make them all interoperate smoothly. For instance, accessing websites from a cell phone requires special user interface methods to make the tiny displays usable (Jones and Marsden 2006). More information about these advances is available in Ling and Donner (2009), and an interesting analysis of the implications of these advances in mobile communication is in Rheingold (2002).

Security on the Internet continues to be a major challenge for collaboration technologies. In some sense, the design of Internet protocols are to blame, since the Internet grew up in a culture of openness and sharing (Longstaff et al. 1997; Abbate 1999; Tanenbaum 2011). E-commerce and sensitive application domains like medicine have been a driver for advances in security, but there is still much progress to be made (Longstaff et al. 1997; Camp 2000). Coping with firewalls that block access to certain organizations can limit the flexibility of web conferencing. A good recent discussion of these issues is in Wong and Yeung (2009).

Additional flexibility is being provided by the development of infrastructure that lies between the network itself and the applications that run on client workstations, called "middleware." This infrastructure makes it easier to link together diverse resources to accomplish collaborative goals. For instance, the emerging Grid technologies allow the marshalling of powerful, scattered computational resources (Foster and Kesselman 2004). Middleware provides such services as identification, authentication, authorization, directories, and security in uniform ways that facilitate the interoperability of diverse applications. All of these technical elements are components of cyber infrastructure (Atkins et al. 2003). There is considerable interest in the development of this infrastructure because of its large impact on research, education, and commerce.

24.3.1 COMMUNICATION TOOLS

We now turn to a review of specific kinds of collaboration technologies, highlighting their various properties and uses. We have grouped this review under several broad headings. We do not aim to be exhaustive, but rather seek to illustrate the variety of kinds of tools that have emerged to support human collaborative activities over networked systems. We also highlight various research issues pertaining to these tools.

24.3.2 E-MAIL

E-mail has become a ubiquitous communication tool. The early adoption of standards made it possible for messages to be exchanged across networks and different base machines and software applications. E-mail is now also done from cell phones, personal digital assistants (PDAs), television sets, and kiosks in public sites. Documents of many types can be easily exchanged. Because of its widespread use, it has often been called the first successful collaboration technology (Sproull and Kiesler 1991; Satzinger and Olfman 1992; O'Hara-Devereaux and Johnson 1994; Anderson et al. 1995). Indeed, it has become so successful that e-mail overload has become a major problem (Whittaker and Sidner 1996). And of course, it has become a vector for viruses, worms, and other malware.

Researchers have shown that this widespread use has had a number of effects on how people behave. It has had large effects on communication in organizations: it changes the social network of who talks to whom (Sproull and Kiesler 1991; DeSanctis, et al. 1996), the power of people who formerly had little voice in decisions (Finholt, Sproull, and Kiesler 1990), and the tone of what is said and how it is interpreted (Sproull and Kiesler 1991). For example, with e-mail, people who were shy found a voice; they could overcome their reluctance to speak to other people by composing text, not speech to another face. This invisibility, however, also has a more general effect—without the social cues in the recipient's face being visible to the sender, people will "flame," send harsh or extremely emotive (usually negative) messages (Arrow et al. 1996; Hollingshead, McGrath, and O'Connor 1993).

As with a number of other "designed" technologies, people use e-mail for things other than the original intent. People use it for managing time, reminding them of things to do, and keeping track of steps in a workflow (Mackay 1989; Carley and Wendt 1991; Whittaker and Sidner 1996). But because e-mail was not designed to support these tasks, it does not do it very well; people struggle with reading signals about whether they have replied or not (and to whom it was cc'd); they manage folders poorly for reminding them to do things, and so forth.

In addition, because e-mail is so widespread, and it is easy and free to distribute a single message to many people, people experience information overload. Many people get hundreds of e-mail messages each day, many of them mere broadcasts of things for sale or events about to happen, much like "classifieds" in the newspaper. Several early efforts to use artificial intelligence techniques to block and/or sort incoming e-mail were tried, and this has continued to be a very active area of work (Malone et al. 1989; Winograd 1988). There are two broad classes of uses of e-mail filters. One use is to automatically sort incoming mail into useful categories. This is relatively easy for mail that has simple properties, such as a person's name. It is more difficult for subtle properties. The other major use is to weed out unwanted mail, such as spam. The state-of-the-art in spam filtering was in the range of 80%-90% effectiveness in 2005 (e.g., Federal Trade Commission 2005). Such filters are so good that many institutions automatically filter mail as it comes in to the organization's gateway, sparing users the need to do it in their own clients. Similarly, many clients now come with built-in spam filters that can be tuned by the user (e.g., Google's Gmail).

These problems have led to the "reinvention" of e-mail (Whittaker, Bellotti, and Moody 2005). For example, given that e-mail is often used in the context of managing projects, systems have been explored that have a more explicit scheme for task management (Whittaker 2005; Bellotti et al. 2005). To deal with problems of e-mail overload, new schemes for filtering e-mail have been explored, such as routing messages differently to different kinds of clients (e.g., cell phone vs. desktop machine; see Schmandt and Marti [2005]). Another approach has been to explore pricing mechanisms for e-mail that are analogous to pricing for regular mail (Kraut et al. 2005). In such schemes one would pay to send e-mail, with higher prices presumably indicating higher priority, analogous to the difference between first class postage and bulk rates. These schemes are exploratory, but are likely to result in new options in future e-mail clients.

Kraut et al. (1998) reported that greater Internet use, which in their sample was mostly e-mail, led to declines in social interactions with family members and an increase in depression and loneliness. Not surprising, these results triggered widespread discussion and debate, both over the substance of the results and the methods used to obtain them. Kraut, Gergle, and Fussell (2002) reported new results that suggested these initial negative effects may not persist. Interpersonal communication is one of the principal uses of the Internet, and the possible implications of this kind of communication for social life are important to understand (see reviews by Bargh and McKenna [2004] and Benkler [2006]). Indeed, Putnam (2000) has wondered whether the Internet can be a source of social cohesiveness. These kinds of questions need to be addressed by additional large-scale studies of the kind carried out by Kraut and his colleagues (see review by Resnick [2002]).

24.3.3 CONFERENCING TOOLS: VOICE, VIDEO, TEXT

There are many options available today for on-line conferencing among geographically dispersed members of a group. So-called computer-mediated communication (CMC) has become widespread. There are three principal modes of interaction, but each has numerous subtypes:

Video + Audio
Full-scale video conferencing room; many options for specific design
Individual desktop video; many options for quality, interface
Conferencing options on mobile devices
Audio
Phone conference
Voice over IP (Skype being a very popular application)
Text
Instant messaging, chat, SMS on mobile phones

CMC was an early research focus for CSCW, and much of what we know dates from the early studies. To be sure, there have been some recent refinements of this literature, for which we will mention a few examples.

There are many studies that compare FTF with various forms of CMC. There are some clear generalizations from such work. The main one is that CMC is more difficult to do than FTF and requires more preparation and care (Hollingshead, McGrath, and O'Connor 1993; McLeod 1992; Olson, Olson, and Meader 1995; Siegel et al. 1986; Straus 1996, 1997; Straus and McGrath 1994). A variety of things that come for free in FTF are either difficult to support or outright missing in CMC (Kiesler and Cummings 2002). Backchannel communication, which is important for modulating conversation, is either weak or nonexistent in CMC, although it has become common to keep an instant messaging (IM) chat going during audio or video conferences (e.g., Kellogg et al. 2006). Paralinguistic cues that can soften communication are often missing. Participants in CMC tend to have an informational focus, which means there is usually less socializing, less small talk. Over time, this can lead to poorer social integration and organizational effectiveness (Nohria and Eccles 1992).

CMC often introduces delay. This is well known to be very disruptive to communication (Egido 1988; Krauss and Bricker 1966; O'Conaill, Whittaker, and Wilbur 1993; Ruhleder and Jordan 2001; Tang and Isaacs 1993). Participants will communicate less information, be more frustrated with the communication, and actually terminate communication sessions sooner. Delay can be managed, but it takes special care among the participants and turn-taking widgets in the interface of the tools being used. For instance, if there is delay, then full-duplex open communication will not work, since participants will step all over each other's communication. Either the participants must use a social protocol (e.g., like that used in radio communications with spacecraft), or they must employ a mike-passing procedure with interface indications of who wants to talk next.

Although it might seem desirable to always have the maximum communication and tool support possible, it is not always possible or even necessary to do so. Research shows that effective real-time collaboration can take place under a number of different arrangements, depending on the task, the characteristics of the participants, the specific geographical dispersion of the participants, and the processes employed to manage the interactions. There are also organizational effects, especially when the real-time collaborations are embedded in ongoing activities, as they almost always are.

For instance, early work (Williams 1977) showed that, in referential communication tasks, full-duplex audio is just as effective as FTF. Subsequent research comparing audio and video conferencing (see summaries in Finn, Sellen, and Wilbur [1997]; Cadiz et al. [2000] found similar results for a tutored video-instruction task) showed that for many tasks audio is sufficient and that video adds nothing to task effectiveness, though participants usually report they are more satisfied with video. There are important exceptions, however. Negotiation tasks are more effective with video (Short, Williams, and Christie 1976). This is probably because the more subtle visual cues to the participants' intentions are important in this kind of task. Further, Veinott et al. (1999) found that when participants have less common ground, video helps. In their case, participants were nonnative speakers of English who were doing the task in English. For native speakers, video was no better than audio, but nonnative speakers did better when they had video. Again, visual cues to comprehension and meaning likely played an important role. Recently, an experimental study by Daly-Jones, Monk, and Watts (1998) showed that high-quality video resulted in greater conversational fluency over just high-quality audio, especially as group size increased. There was also a higher rated sense of presence in the video conditions.

An important lesson to draw from this literature is that there are two broad classes by which we might assess whether video is important in real-time collaboration. On the one hand, except for tasks like negotiation or achieving common ground, groups are able to get their work done effectively with high-quality audio. However, for things like satisfaction, conversational fluency, and a sense of presence, video adds value. These kinds of factors might be very important for long-term organizational consequences like employee satisfaction. As of yet, no long-term studies have been done to examine this conjecture.

Audio quality is critical. Ever since early literature review (Egido 1988), it has been reported over and over again that if the audio is of poor quality participants will develop a workaround. For instance, if the audio in a video conferencing system or in a web conferencing system is poor quality, participants will turn to a phone conference.

The social ergonomics of audio and video are also keys to their success. Many of the failures of audio conferencing, especially over the Internet, result from poor-quality microphones, poor microphone placement, poor speakers, and interfering noises like air conditioning. Getting these details right is essential. Similarly, for video, camera placement can matter a lot. For instance, Huang, Olson, and Olson (2002) found that a camera angle that makes a person seem tall (as opposed to actually being tall) affects how influential a person is in a negotiation task. Apparent height matters a lot. Other aspects of camera placement or arrangement of video displays make a big difference as well but are not well known.

An exception is eye contact or gaze awareness, where studies of FTF communication show that these are key linguistic and social mediators of communication (Argyle and Cook 1976; Kendon 1967). It is very difficult to achieve eye contact in CMC systems. Many attempts have been made (Gale and Monk 2000; Grayson and Monk 2003; Monk and Gale 2002; Okada et al. 1994; Vertegaal 1999; Vertegaal et al. 2001), and at least the subjective reports are that these can be effective. But these all require special equipment or setups. And they do not scale very well to multiparty sessions. A recent study by Nguyen and Canny (2007) showed that a relatively simple and inexpensive setup that supports gaze awareness (being able to tell who is looking at whom) had a clear effect on a task that assessed the formation of interpersonal trust.

While for most situations having at least high-quality audio is essential, there are some special cases where a textbased channel, like chat or instant messaging, can work fine. For instance, in the Upper Atmospheric Research Collaboratory (UARC, later known as the "Space Physics and Aeronomy Research Collaboratory" or SPARC), a chat system worked very well for carrying out geographically distributed observational campaigns, since the flow of events in these campaigns were relatively slow (campaigns went on for several days, key events would take many minutes to unfold). McDaniel, Olson, and Magee (1996) compared chat logs with earlier FTF conversations at a remote site and found many elements of them very similar, including informal socializing. But this kind of ongoing scientific campaign is very unlike the interactions that take place in a typical meeting.

Instant messaging is a new communication modality that is making substantial inroads into organizations. Muller et al. (2003) found in a survey study of three organizations that the introduction of instant messaging led to significantly less use of such communication channels as e-mail, voice-mail, telephone, teleconference, pager, and FTF. They also found that instant messaging was used for "substantive business purposes." Furthermore, in one of the organizations where they surveyed users after 24 months of usage they found that the substantive reasons for using IM increased. In a study of IM logs in an organization, Isaacs et al. (2002) found that a large proportion of IM conversations involved "complex work discussions." They found that IM users seldom switched to another communication channel once they were engaged in IM. Nardi, Whittaker, and Bradner (2000) observed in a field study that workers used IM for a variety of purposes, not just for information exchange. Such matters as quick questions, scheduling, organizing social interactions, and keeping in touch with others were common uses of IM. Thus, IM has emerged as a significant communication medium in the workplace and is used even when other, richer communication channels were available.

Although IM is a relatively new phenomenon in the workplace, it is clearly established as a useful and widely used tool outside the workplace. This will undoubtedly assist in the development of more sophisticated versions of the tool, as well as its integration into on-line conferencing systems. There is clearly much promise here. We have noticed, for example, that during online conferences IM or chat serves as a backchannel for side conversations or debugging, an extremely useful adjunct to the core audio or video communication taking place in such conferences.

The other key feature of successful remote meetings is the ability to share the objects they are talking about, such as the agenda, the to-do list, the latest draft of a proposal, a view of an object to be repaired, and so on. Many researchers (Fussell, Kraut, and Siegel 2000; Karsenty 1999; Kraut, Fussell, and Siegel 2003; Kraut et al. 2002; Luff et al. 2003; Nardi et al. 1993; Whittaker, Geelhoed, and Robinson 1993) have provided experimental evidence of the value of a shared workspace for synchronous audio-supported collaboration. More traditional video conferencing technologies often offer an "object camera," onto which the participants can put a paper agenda, Powerpoint slides, or a manufactured part. More generally, any form of video can also be used to share work objects (Fussell, Kraut, and Siegel 2000; Nardi et al. 1993). For digital objects, there are now a number of products that will allow meeting participants to share the screen or, in some cases, the remote operation of an application. Some companies are using electronic whiteboards, both in a collocated meeting and in remote meetings to mimic the choreography of people using a physical whiteboard. In some "collaboratories," scientists can even operate remote physical instruments from a distance and jointly discuss the results.

There are a growing number of studies that have looked at cultural issues in CMC. For example, Setlock, Fussell, and Neuwirth (2004) studied the differences in conversational content between Chinese and American pairs while engaged in a decision-making task, either in a FTF situation or using instant messaging, and found a series of differences in how they conversed. On the basis of analyses of agreement and efficiency, along with some specific text analyses, they characterized pairs of Americans as viewing the task as one of working out a mutually acceptable joint rating, whereas the Chinese pairs worked to reach agreement on the relative worth of the specific items to be rated. Fussell and her colleagues have carried out a series of studies comparing CMC behaviors across Asian and American cultures (e.g., Diamant, Fussell, and Lo 2009; Wang, Fussell, and Setlock 2009). A recent review of work on multicultural teams is by Connaughton and Shuffler (2007). The emergence of a new conference series on Intercultural Collaboration (e.g., International Conference on Intercultural Collaboration or ICIC 2010) provides a focused venue for work like this.

24.3.4 BLOGS

Weblogs, or more commonly called "blogs," have burst upon the Internet scene in recent years. Blogging software that makes it easy to put up multimedia content has led people to set up sites for all manner of purposes. A site can contain text, pictures, movies, and audio clips. A common social purpose is to keep an on-line diary. Another is to provide commentary on a topic of interest. For instance, blogs played a major role in the 2004 election (Adamic and Glance 2005). Nardi et al. (2004) studied why people blog, as it is sometimes puzzling that people would essentially share personal or private information about themselves through the web. Blogging has emerged as a major research topic in this area, and the literature is growing apace.

A special topic related to blogging is the emergence of microblogging, best instantiated by Twitter. Twitter limits contributions to 140 characters, so of necessity "tweets," as they are called, are concise. Yet Twitter has emerged as a major social phenomenon, and of course is also receiving significant scholarly attention. A couple of recent examples of such studies include Huberman, Romero, and Wu (2009) and Zhao and Rosson (2009).

24.3.5 DISASTER RESPONSE

Within the past decade the kinds of CMC tools we have been reviewing have emerged as major resources for dealing with disasters. There are now a number of studies of these phenomena. For example, Vieweg et al. (2010) studied the use of Twitter in two natural emergencies, the 2009 grass fires in Oklahoma and the 2009 flooding of the Red River. They found that the use of Twitter made major contributions to situational awareness in both cases. Palen et al. (2009) studied the role of CMC in the 2007 mass shooting at Virginia Tech. Mark, Al-Ani, and Semaan (2009) looked at the role of CMC in maintaining resilience in a war zone, particularly Iraq. Schafer, Ganoe, and Carroll (2007) looked at emergency management planning in a community, focusing on what kind of software architecture would support the kinds of needs faced there. These examples are just the tip of the iceberg of recent work in the area, all of which is showing that the wide variety of collaboration technologies now available can have a substantial impact on the handling of emergencies.

24.4 COORDINATION SUPPORT

24.4.1 MEETING SUPPORT

An early and popular topic in CSCW was the support of FTF meetings. A number of systems were developed and tested. While of late the focus has shifted to the support of

geographically distributed meetings, the early work on meeting support led to some important and useful conclusions.

Some meeting-support software imposed structure on the process of the meeting, embodying various brainstorming and voting procedures. Group decision-support systems (GDSSs) arose from a number of business schools, focusing on large meetings of stakeholders' intent on going through a set series of decisions, such as prioritizing projects for future funding (Nunamaker et al. 1991). With the help of a facilitator and some technical support, the group was led through a series of stages: brainstorming without evaluating, evaluating alternatives from a variety of positions, prioritizing alternatives, and so on. These meetings were held in specialized rooms in which individual computers were embedded in the tables, networked to central services, and summary displays shown "center stage." A typical scenario involved individuals silently entering ideas into a central repository, and after a certain amount of time, they were shown ideas one at a time from others and asked to respond with a new idea triggered by that one. Later, these same ideas were presented to the individuals who were then asked to rank or rate them according to some fixed criterion, like cost. Aggregates of individuals' opinions were computed, discussed further and presented for vote. The system applied computational power (for voting and rating mechanisms), and networking control (for parallel input) to support typically weak aspects of meetings. These systems were intended to gather more ideas from participants, since one did not have to wait for another to stop speaking in order to get a turn. And, anonymous voting and rating was intended to insure equal participation, not dominated by those in power.

Evaluations of these GDSSs have been reviewed producing some generalizations about their value (McLeod 1992; Kraemer and Pinsoneault 1990; Hollingshead, McGrath, and O'Connor 1993). The systems indeed fulfill their intentions of producing more ideas in brainstorming and having more evaluative comments because of anonymity. Decisions are rated as higher in quality, but the meetings take longer and the participants are less satisfied than those in traditional meetings.

A second class of technologies to support real-time meetings is less structured, more similar to individual workstation support. In these systems, groups are allowed access to a single document or drawing, and can enter and edit into them simultaneously at will. Different systems enforce different "locking" mechanisms (e.g., paragraph or selection locking) so that one person does not enter while another deletes the same thing (Ellis, Gibbs, and Rein 1991). Some also allow parallel individual work, where participants view and edit different parts of the same document, but can also view and discuss the same part as well. This kind of unstructured shared editor has been shown to be very effective for certain kinds of free-flowing meetings, like design or requirements meetings (Olson et al. 1993). The rated quality of the meeting products (e.g., a requirements document or plan) was higher when using these technologies than with traditional whiteboard or paper-and-pencil support, but like working in GDSSs, people were slightly less satisfied. The lower satisfaction here and with GDSSs may reflect the newness of the technologies; people may not have yet learned how to persuade, negotiate, or influence each other in comfortable ways, to harness the powers inherent in the new technologies.

These new technologies did indeed change the way in which people worked. They talked less and wrote more, building on each other's ideas instead of generating farreaching other ideas. The tool seemed to focus the groups on the core ideas, and keep them from going off on tangents. Many participants reported really liking doing work in the meetings rather than spending time only talking about the work (Olson et al. 1993).

A third class of meeting room support appears in electronic whiteboards. For example, the LiveBoard (Elrod et al. 1992), SoftBoard and SmartBoard are rear projection surfaces that allow pen input, much the way a whiteboard or flip chart does. People at Xerox PARC (Palo Alto Research Center Incorporated) and Boeing have evaluated the use of these boards in meetings in extended case studies. In both cases, the board was highly valued because of its computational power and the fact that all could see the changes as they were made. At both sites, successful use required a facilitator who was familiar with the applications running to support the meeting. At Xerox, suggestions made in the meeting about additional functionality were built into the system so that it eventually was finely tuned support for their particular needs (Moran et al. 1996). For example, they did a lot of list making of freehand text items. Eventually, the board software recognized the nature of a list and an outline, with simple gestures changing things sensibly. For example, if a freehand text item was moved higher in a list, the other items adjusted their positions to make room for it. The end product was not only a set of useful meeting tools, but also a toolkit to allow people to build new meeting widgets to support their particular tasks.

As technological developments have enabled the creation of large, affordable displays, research has picked up on the utility of large displays for small team collaboration. An obvious application of large displays is for complex, highresolution data, such as maps, medical images, and a variety of complex scientific visualizations. There are of course interesting issues in dealing with such large displays, such as how to navigate them when they are extraordinarily rich in detailed information (Ball, North, and Bowman 2007), how to distribute control among users (e.g., single selection device vs. one per person; see Birnholtz et al. [2007]), and how to deal with sensitive or private information, as in the context of shift changes in a hospital (Wilson, Galliers, and Fone 2006). Robertson et al. (2005) have a good discussion of the many usability issues that arise with large displays. There is a large and growing literature on this topic.

Tabletop displays constitute another way of presenting lots of information for collaborators. This too is a rapidly growing area of research that we do not have space to cover in any detail. But some recent, representative studies that would help one get into the literature include Isenberg et al. (2010), Morris, Lombardo, and Wigdor (2010), Hartmann et al. (2009) and Tang et al. (2006).

Meetings are important, though often despised, organizational activities. Research of the kind just reviewed has shown quite clearly that well-designed tools can improve both work outcomes and participant satisfaction. However, meetings in organizations seldom use such tools. Inexpensive mobile computing and projection equipment combined with many commercial products mean that such tools are within reach of most organizations. But not having these elements readily available in an integrated way probably inhibits their widespread adoption.

While traditional meetings are often viewed as wasteful and frustrating, there can be huge benefits to working together in collocated environments. Kiesler and Cummings (2002) reviewed a number of the characteristics of physical collocation that can benefit performance. In a detailed study of one such situation, Teasley et al. (2002) found that "radical collocation," in which software development teams worked together in a dedicated project room for many weeks, dramatically improved their productivity. Reasons for this included the constant awareness of each other's work status, the associated ability to instantly work on an impasse as a group, and the availability of rich shared artifacts generated by the project.

24.4.2 WORKFLOW

Workflow systems lend technology support to coordinated asynchronous (usually sequential) steps of activities among team members working on a particular task. For example, a workflow system might route a travel reimbursement voucher from the traveler to the approving party to the accounts payable to the bank. The electronic form would be edited and sent to the various parties, their individual to-do-lists updated as they received and/or completed the tasks, and permissions and approval granted automatically as appropriate (e.g., allowing small charges to an account if the charges had been budgeted previously or simply if there was enough money in the account). Not only is the transaction flow supported, but also records are often kept about who did what and when they did it. It is this later feature that has potentially large consequences for the people involved, discussed in the last paragraph in this section.

These workflow systems were often the result of work reengineering efforts, focusing on making the task take less time and to eliminate the work that could be automated. Not only do workflow systems therefore have a bad reputation in that they often are part of workforce reduction plans, but also for those left, their work is able to be monitored much more closely. The systems are often very rigid, requiring, for example, all of a form to be filled in before it can be handed off to the next in the chain. They often require a great deal of rework because of this inflexibility. It is because of the inflexibility and the potential monitoring that the systems fall into disuse (e.g., Abbott and Sarin 1994). However, Grinter (2000) examined several cases of successful deployment of workflow systems, and drew some helpful conclusions about what is required for these to work. Klein, Dellarocas, and Bernstein (2000) introduced a special double issue of *Computer Supported Cooperative Work* on adaptive workflow systems that deal with some of the exception-handling that can be such an important feature for success.

The fact that workflow can be monitored is a major source of user resistance. In Europe, such monitoring is illegal, and powerful groups of organized workers have made sure that such capabilities are not in workflow systems (Prinz and Kovenbach 1996). In the United States, it is not illegal, but many employees complain about its inappropriate use. For example, in one software engineering team where workflow had just been introduced to track bug reports and fixes, people in the chain were sloppy about noting who they had handed a piece of work off to. When it was discovered that the manager had been monitoring the timing of the handoffs to assign praise or blame, the team members were justifiably upset (Olson and Teasley 1996). In general, managerial monitoring is a feature that is not well received by people being monitored (Markus 1983). If such monitoring is mandated, workers' behavior will conform to the specifics of what is being monitored (e.g., time to pass an item off to the next in the chain) rather than perhaps to what the real goal is (e.g., quality as well as timely completion of the whole process).

24.4.3 GROUP CALENDARS

A number of organizations have now adopted online calendars, mainly in order to view people's schedules to arrange meetings. The calendars also allow a form of awareness, allowing people to see if a person who is not present is expected back soon. Individuals benefit only insofar as they offload scheduling meetings to others, like to an administrative assistant, who can write as well as read the calendar. And, in some systems the individual can schedule private time, blocking the time but not revealing to others his or her whereabouts. By this description, on-line calendaring is a classic case of what Grudin (1988) warned against, a misalignment of costs and benefits; the individual puts in the effort to record his/her appointments so that another, in this case a manager or coworker, can benefit from ease of scheduling. However, since the early introduction of electronic calendaring systems, many organizations have found successful adoption (Mosier and Tammaro 1997; Grudin and Palen 1995; Palen and Grudin 2002). Apparently such success requires a culture of sharing and accessibility, something that exists in some organizations and not others (Lange 1992; Ehrlich 1987). But today group calendars are a common piece of infrastructure in many settings (Miller 2009).

24.4.4 AWARENESS

In normal work, there are numerous occasions in which people find out casually whether others are in and, in some cases, what they are doing. A simple walk down the hall to a printer offers numerous glances into people's offices, noting where their coats are, whether others are talking, whether there is intense work at a computer, and so on. This kind of awareness is unavailable to workers who are remote. Some researchers have offered various technology solutions; some have allowed one to visually walk down the hall at the remote location, taking a 5-second glance into each passing office (Bellotti and Dourish 1997; Fish et al. 1993). Another similar system, called "Portholes," provides periodic snapshots instead of full-motion video (Dourish and Bly 1992). Because of privacy implications, these systems have had mixed success. The places in which this succeeds are those in which the individuals seem to have a reciprocal need to be aware of each other's presence, and a sense of cooperation and coordination. A contrasting case is the IM system in which the user has control as to what state they wish to advertise to their partners about their availability. The video systems are much more lightweight to the user but more intrusive; the IM ones give the user more control but require intention in action. Another approach investigated by Ackerman et al. (1997) looked at shared audio as an awareness tool, though this too has privacy implications.

As mentioned earlier, instant messaging systems provide an awareness capability. Most systems display a list of "buddies" and whether they are currently on-line or not. Nardi, Whittaker, and Bradner (2000) found that people liked this aspect of IM (see also Muller et al. [2003]; Isaacs et al. [2002]). And, since wireless has allowed constant connectivity of mobile devices like PDAs, this use of tracking others is likely to grow. But again, there are issues of monitoring for useful or insidious purposes, and the issues of trust and privacy loom large (see Godefroid et al. [2000]).

Another approach to signaling what one is doing occurs at the more micro level. And again, one captures what is easy to capture. When people are closely aligned in their work, there are applications that allow each to see exactly where in the shared document the other is working and what they are doing (Gutwin and Greenberg 1999). If one is working nearby the other, this signals perhaps a need to converse about the directions each is taking. Empirical evaluations have shown that such workspace awareness can facilitate task performance (Gutwin and Greenberg 1999).

Studies of attempts to carry out difficult intellectual work within geographically distributed organizations show that one of the larger costs of geographical distribution is the lack of awareness of what others are doing or whether they are even around (Herbsleb et al. 2000). Thus, useful and usable awareness tools that mesh well with trust and privacy concerns could be of enormous organizational importance. This is a rich research area for CSCW.

An important body of material on this topic appeared in a special issue of *Computer Supported Cooperative Work* in 2002. We do not have the space to engage the nine important articles published in this special issue, but anyone wanting to delve more deeply into this topic of necessity needs to digest this special issue. Schmidt's (2002) article exploring the very concept of awareness itself certainly deserves attention.

A related problem that has recently received much attention is the matter of interruptions. Interruptions have the property that there is an asymmetry between the interrupter and the interrupted, in that the former seemingly has more control over the occasions of interruptions than the latter (Nardi and Whittaker 2002).* These issues become even more acute in distributed work, especially with weak awareness support. Given this, several investigators have explored with some success whether techniques drawn from statistical decision theory or machine learning could be used to figure out from sensor data whether a person is interruptible (e.g., Horvitz and Apacible 2003; Fogerty et al. 2005).

24.5 INFORMATION REPOSITORIES

24.5.1 **Repositories of Shared Knowledge**

In addition to sharing information generally on the web, in both public and intranet settings, there are applications that are explicitly built for knowledge sharing. The goal in most systems is to capture knowledge that can be reused by others, like instruction manuals, office procedures, training, and "boilerplates," or templates of commonly constructed genres, like proposals or bids. Experience shows, however, that these systems are not easy wins. Again, similar to the case of the on-line calendaring systems described in Section 24.4.3, the person entering information into the system is not necessarily the one benefiting from it. In a large consulting firm, where consultants were quite competitive in their bid for advancement, there was indeed negative incentive for giving away one's best secrets and insights (Orlikowski and Gash 1994).

Sometimes subtle design features are at work in the incentive structure. In another adoption of Lotus Notes, in this case to track open issues in software engineering, the engineers slowly lost interest in the system because they assumed that their manager was not paying attention to their contributions and use of the system. The system design, unfortunately, made the manager's actual use invisible to the team. Had they known that he was reading daily what they wrote (though he never wrote anything himself), they would likely have continued to use the system (Olson and Teasley 1996). A simple design change that would make the manager's reading activity visible to the team would likely have significantly altered their adoption.

The web of course provides marvelous infrastructure for the creation and sharing of information repositories. A variety of tools are appearing to support this. Of particular interest are open source tools that allow for a wider, more flexible infrastructure for supporting information sharing (see www.sakai .org). The major types of collaboratory (see Section 24.7.3) are those that provide shared data repositories for a community of scientists. The topic of "knowledge management" has received extensive treatment over the past decade or more and is far beyond the scope of what we can review here.[†]

^{*} Though one interesting finding is that in the normal course of activity, many interruptions are self-administered (Mark, Gonzalez, and Harris 2005).

[†] A Google search in August 2010 under "knowledge management" yielded over 70 million hits!

24.5.2 Wikis

A wiki is a shared web space that can be edited by anyone who has access to it. They were first introduced by Ward Cunningham in 1995, but have recently become very popular. These can be used in a variety of ways, both for work and for fun. The most famous wiki is Wikipedia (www.wikipedia.org), an online encyclopedia where anyone can generate and edit content. It has grown to have millions of entries, and has versions in at least ten languages. A recent study carried out by Nature found that for science articles Wikipedia and the Encyclopedia Britannica were about equally accurate (Giles 2005). Bryant, Forte, and Bruckman (2005) studied the contributors to Wikipedia, and suggested that a new publishing paradigm was emerging. Viegas, Wattenberg, and Dave (2004) developed imaginative visualizations of Wikipedia authoring and editing behavior over time. While an extensive literature on Wikipedia has developed in recent years, an interesting paper by Kittur and Kraut (2010) studies nearly 7000 other wikis, noting both similarities and differences with the findings that have emerged from studies of Wikipedia. For instance, coordination mechanisms across a wide range of wikis tended to be similar to Wikipedia. But a wide range of policies, procedures, and other mechanisms for managing a wiki appeared in the larger sample.

24.5.3 CAPTURE AND REPLAY

Tools that support collaborative activity can create traces of that activity that later can be replayed and reflected upon. The UARC explored the replay of earlier scientific campaign sessions (Olson et al. 2001), so that scientists could reflect upon their reactions to real-time observations of earlier phenomena. Using a video cassette recording metaphor, they could pause where needed, and fast forward past uninteresting parts. This reflective activity could also engage new players who had not been part of the original session. Abowd (1999) has explored such capture phenomena in an educational experiment called Classroom 2000. Initial experiments focused on reusing educational sessions during the term in college courses. Lipford and Abowd (2008) report on the long-term deployment of such a system, noting a number of challenges in making such systems effective. We do net yet fully understand the impact of such promising ideas.

24.6 SOCIAL COMPUTING

24.6.1 SOCIAL FILTERING, RECOMMENDER SYSTEMS

We often find the information we want by contacting others. Social networks embody rich repositories of useful information on a variety of topics. A number of investigators have looked at whether the process of finding information through others can be automated. The kinds of recommender systems that we find on websites like Amazon.com are examples of the result of such research. The basic principle of such systems is that an individual will tend to like or prefer the kinds of things (e.g., movies and books) that someone who is similar to him/her likes. They find similar people by matching their previous choices. Such systems use a variety of algorithms to match preferences with those of others, and then recommend new items. Resnick and Varian (1997) edited a special issue of the Communication of the ACM on recommender systems that included a representative set of examples. Herlocker, Konstan, and Riedl (2000) used empirical methods to explicate the factors that led users to accept the advice of recommender systems. In short, providing access to explanations for why items were recommended seems to be the key. Cosley et al. (2005) studied factors that influence people to contribute data to recommender systems. Recommender systems are emerging as a key element of e-commerce (Schafer, Konstan, and Riedl 2001). Accepting the output of recommender systems is an example of how people come to trust technical systems. This is a complex topic, and relates to issues like security that we briefly described in Section 24.3.

24.6.2 TRUST OF PEOPLE VIA THE TECHNOLOGY

It has been said that "trust needs touch," and indeed in survey studies, coworkers report that they trust those who are collocated more than those who are remote (Rocco et al. 2000). Interestingly, those who spend the most time on the phone chatting about non-work-related topics with their remote coworkers show higher trust than those they communicate with using only fax and e-mail. But lab studies show that telephone interaction is not as good as FTF. People using just the telephone behave in more self-serving, less-trusting ways than they do when they meet face to face (Drolet and Morris 2000).

What can be done to counteract the mistrust that comes from the impoverished media? Rocco (1998) had people meet and do a team-building exercise the day before they engaged in the social dilemma game with only e-mail to communicate with. These people, happily, showed as much cooperation and trust as those who discussed things face to face during the game. This is important. It suggests that if remote teams can do some FTF teambuilding before launching on their project, they will act in a trusting/trustworthy manner.

Since it is not always possible to have everyone on a project meet face to face before they launch into the work, what else will work? Researchers have tried some options, but with mixed success. Zheng et al. (2001) found that using chat for socializing and sharing pictures of each other also led to trustful relations. Merely sharing a resume did not. When the text is translated into voice, it has no effect on trust, and when it is translated into voice and presented in a moving human-like face, it is even worse than text-chat. (Jensen et al. 2000; Kiesler, Sproull, and Waters 1996). However, Bos et al. (2001) found that interactions over video and audio led to trust, albeit of a seemingly more fragile form.

If we can find a way to establish trust without expensive travel, we are likely to see important productivity gains. Clearly the story is not over. However, we must not be too optimistic. In other tasks, video does not produce "being there." There is an overhead to the conversation through video; it requires more effort than working face to face (Olson, Olson, and Meader 1995). And, today's videos over the Internet are both delayed and choppy, producing cues that people often associate with lying. One does not trust someone who appears to be lying. Trust is a delicate emotion; today's video might not just do it in a robust enough fashion, though the Nguyen and Canny (2007) study mentioned in Section 24.3.3 presented some encouraging results.

24.7 INTEGRATED SYSTEMS

24.7.1 MEDIA SPACES

As an extension of video conferencing and awareness systems, some people have experimented with open, continuous audio and video connections between remote locations. In a number of cases, these experiments have been called "Media Spaces," and these were very popular experiments in industry in the late 1980s and early 1990s. For example, at Xerox, two labs were linked with an open video link between two commons areas (Olson and Bly 1991), the two locations being Palo Alto, California, and Portland, Oregon. Evaluation of these experiments showed that maintaining organizational cohesiveness at a distance was much more difficult than when members are collocated (Finn, Sellen, and Wilbur 1997). However, some connectedness was maintained. Where many of these early systems were plagued with technical difficulties, human factors limitations, or very large communication costs, in today's situation it might actually be possible to overcome these difficulties, making media a possibility for connecting global organizations. A new round of experimental deployments with new tools is needed.

24.7.2 COLLABORATIVE VIRTUAL ENVIRONMENTS

Collaborative virtual environments are 3D embodiments of multiuser domains (MUDs). The space in which people interact is an analog of physical space, with dimensions, directions, rooms, and objects of various kinds. People are represented as avatars-simplified, geometric, digital representations of people, who move about in the 3D space (Singhal and Zyda 1999). Similar to MUDs, the users in a meeting situation might interact over some object that is digitally represented, like a mock up of a real thing (e.g., an automobile engine, an airplane hinge, a piece of industrial equipment) or with visualizations of abstract data (e.g., a 3D visualization of atmospheric data). In these spaces, one can have a sense as to where others are and what they are doing, similar to the simplified awareness systems described earlier. In use, it is difficult to establish mutual awareness or orientation in such spaces (Hindmarsh et al. 1998; Park, Kapoor, and Leigh 2000; Yang and Olson 2002). There have even been some attempts to merge collaborative virtual environments with real ones, though with limited success so far (Benford et al. 1998).

The emergence of multiplayer games with rich virtual environments has literally exploded in the past decade. There is a growing literature on the characteristics of play and collaboration in these games. Ducheneaut and Moore (2005) described the learning of social skills in such games. Brown and Thomas (2006) speculated that achieving mastery in such collaborative games might become an important entry on a resume. Bainbridge (2007) discussed the scientific research potential of such worlds. Nardi (2010) summarized her extensive experience in playing World of Warcraft. This is just the briefest sample of what is available.

Another recent development is the emergence of virtual environments like Second Life. These are not game environments, but a platform in which a wide range of social phenomena are supported in a virtual world. Participants have an avatar, whose visual appearance and clothing can be designed. People in Second Life engage in commerce, buying and selling real estate, making things like clothing or furniture, and a variety of other imports from real life (or RL as it is known in Second Life). Many colleges and universities have a presence in Second Life, and have experimented with offering classes and discussion forums. A number of corporations have a presence in Second Life, and have engaged in creative activities such as prototyping future places (e.g., hotel designs) or software. The first author of this chapter recently participated in a usability evaluation of software developed by IBM Research.

24.7.3 COLLABORATORIES

A collaboratory is a laboratory without walls (Finholt and Olson 1997). From a National Research Council report, a collaboratory is supposed to allow "the nation's researchers [to] perform their research without regard to geographical location—interacting with colleagues, accessing instrumentation, sharing data and computational resources [and] accessing information in digital libraries" (National Research Council 1993, p. 7). Starting in the early 1990s, these capabilities have been configured into support packages for a number of specific sciences (see Finholt [2002]). The Science of Collaboratories project (www.science of collaboratories. org) has identified more than 200 existing collaboratories and has drawn lessons about why some succeed and others do not (Olson, Zimmerman, and Bos 2008).

A number of companies have also experimented with similar concepts, calling them "virtual collocation." The goal there is to support geographically dispersed teams as they carry out product design, software engineering, financial reporting, and almost any business function. In these cases, suites of off-theshelf groupware tools have been particularly important and have been used to support round-the-clock software development among overlapping teams of engineers in time zones around the world. (Carmel 1999). There have been a number of such efforts, and it is still unclear as to their success or what features make their success more likely, though Olson et al. (2008) have summarized a rich variety of possible factors.

24.8 CONCLUSIONS

Many of the functions we have described in this chapter are becoming ordinary elements of infrastructure in networked computing systems. Prognosticators looking at the emergence of collaborative technologies and the convergence of computing and communication media have forecast that distance will diminish as a factor in human interactions (e.g., Cairncross 1997). However, to paraphrase Mark Twain, the reports of distance's death are greatly exaggerated. Even with all our emerging information and communications technologies, distance and its associated attributes of culture, time zones, geography, and language will continue to affect how humans interact with each other. Emerging distance technologies will allow greater flexibility for those whose work must be done at a distance, but we believe (see Olson and Olson [2000]) that distance will continue to be a factor in understanding these work relationships.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Preparation of this chapter was facilitated by several grants from the National Science Foundation (research grants IIS-9320543, IIS-9977923, ATM-9873025, IIS-0085951 and cooperative agreement IRI-9216848) and a grant from the Army Research Institute (W91WAW-07-C-0060). We are also grateful to several anonymous reviewers for helpful comments on earlier drafts.

REFERENCES

- Abbate, J. 1999. Inventing the Internet. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Abbott, K. R., and S. K. Sarin. 1994. Experiences with workflow management: Issues for the next generation. In *Proceedings* of the Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 113–20. Chapel Hill, NC: ACM Press.
- Abowd, G. D. 1999. Classroom 2000: An experiment with the instrumentation of a living educational environment. *IBM Syst J* 38:508–30.
- Ackerman, M. S., B. Starr, D. Hindus, and S. D. Mainwaring. 1997. Hanging on the 'wire': A field study of an audio-only media space. ACM Trans Comput Hum Interact 4(1):39–66.
- Adamic, L. A., and N. Glance. 2005. The political blogosphere and the 2004 U.S. election: Divided they blog. Presented at LinkKDD-2005, Chicago, IL. www.blogpulse.com/ papers/2005/ (accessed March 13, 2007).
- Anderson, R. H., T. K. Bikson, S. A. Law, and B. M. Mitchell. 1995. Universal Access to E-Mail: Feasibility and Societal Implications. Santa Monica, CA: Rand.
- Argyle, M., and M. Cook. 1976. *Gaze and Mutual Gaze*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Arrow, H., J. L. Berdahl, K. S. Bouas, K. M. Craig, A. Cummings, L. Lebei, J. E. McGrath, K. M. O'Connor, J. A. Rhoades, and A. Schlosser. 1996. Time, technology, and groups: An integration. *Comput Support Coop Work* 4:253–61.
- Atkins, D. E., K. K. Droegemeier, S. I. Feldman, H. Garcia-Molina, M. L. Klein, D. G. Messerschmitt, P. Messina, J. P. Ostriker, and M. H. Wright. 2003. Revolutioning science and engineering through cyberinfrastructure. Report of the National Science Foundation Blue-Ribbon Advisory Panel on Cyberinfrastructure. National Science Foundation. Arlington, VA.
- Baecker, R. M. 1993. Readings in Groupware and Computer-Supported Cooperative Work. San Mateo, CA: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers.
- Bainbridge, W. S. 2007. The scientific research potential of virtual worlds. *Science* 317:472–6.

- Ball, R., C. North, and D. A. Bowman. 2007. Move to improve: Promoting physical navigation to increase user performance with large displays. In *Proceedings of CHI 2007*, 191–200. New York; ACM.
- Bargh, J. A., and K. Y. A. McKenna. 2004. The Internet and social life. *Annu Rev Psychol* 55:573–90.
- Bell, A. 2009. Exploring Web 2.0: Second Generation Interactive Tools—Blogs, Podcasts, Wikis, Networking, Virtual Worlds, and More. Georgetown, TX: Katy Crossings Press.
- Bellotti, V., and P. Dourish. 1997. Rant and RAVE: Experimental and experiential accounts of a media space. In *Video-Mediated Communication*, ed. K. E. Finn, A. J. Sellen, and S. B. Wilbur, 245–72. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Bellotti, V., N. Ducheneaut, M. Howard, I. Smith, and R. E. Grinter. 2005. Quality versus quantity: E-mail centric task management and its relation with overload. *Hum Comput Interact* 20:89–138.
- Benford, S., C. Greenhalgh, G. Reynard, C. Brown, and B. Koleva. 1998. Understanding and constructing shared spaces with mixedreality boundaries. ACM Trans Comput Hum Interact 5:185–223.
- Benkler, Y. 2006. *The Wealth of Networks: How Social Production Transforms Markets and Freedom*. New Have, CT: Yale University Press.
- Berners-Lee, T. 1999. Weaving the Web. New York: Harper Collins.
- Birnholtz, J. P., T. Grossman, C. Mak, and R. Balakrishnan. 2007. An exploratory study of input configuration and group process in a negotiation task using a large display. In *Proceedings* of CHI 2007, 91–100. New York: ACM.
- Bos, N., D. Gergle, J. S. Olson, and G. M. Olson. 2001. Being there vs. seeing there: Trust via video. Short paper presented at the Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems: CHI-2001. New York: ACM Press.
- Brown, J. S., and D. Thomas. 2006. You play World of Warcraft? You're hired. *Wired Magazine*, 14(4).
- Bryant, S. L., A. Forte, and A. Bruckman. 2005. Becoming Wikipedian: Transformation of participation in a collaborative online encyclopedia. In *Proceedings of GROUP 2005*, 1–10. New York: ACM.
- Bush, V. 1945. As we may think. Atl Mon 176(1):101-8.
- Cadiz, J., A. Balachandran, E. Sanocki, A. Gupta, J. Grudin, and G. Jancke. 2000. Video conferencing as a technology to support group work: A review of its failure. Paper presented at the CSCW '88, New York: ACM Press.
- Cairncross, F. 1997 *The Death of Distance: How the Communications Revolution Will Change Our Lives.* Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Camp, L. J. 2000. Trust and Risk in Internet Commerce. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Campasoto, O., and K. Nilson. 2011. Web 2.0 Fundamentals for Developers: With AJAX, Development Tools, and Mobile Platforms. Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett Publishers.
- Carley, K., and K. Wendt. 1991. Electronic mail and scientific communication: A study of the Soar extended research group. *Knowl Creation Diffus Util* 12:406–40.
- Carmel, E. 1999. *Global Software Teams*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Comer, D. E. 2008. *Computer Networks and Internets*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Connaughton, S. L., and M. Shuffler. 2007. Multinational and multicultural distributed teams: A review and future agenda. *Small Group Res* 38:387–412.
- Cosley, D., D. Frankowski, S. Kiesler, L. Terveen, and J. Riedl. 2005. How oversight improves member-maintained communities. In *Proceedings of CHI 2005*, 11–20. New York: ACM.

- Crabtree, A., T. Rodden, and S. Benford. 2005. Moving with the times: IT research and the boundaries of CSCW. *Comput Support Coop Work* 14:217–51.
- Daly-Jones, O., A. Monk, and L. Watts. 1998. Some advantages of video conferencing over high-quality audio conferencing: Fluency and awareness of attentional focus. *Int J Hum Comput Stud* 49(1):21–58.
- DeSanctis, G., B. M. Jackson, M. S. Poole, and G. W. Dickson. 1996. Infrastructure for telework: Electronic communication at Texaco. In *Proceedings of SIGCPR/SIGMIS* '96, 94–102. New York: ACM.
- Diamant, E. I., S. R. Fussell, and F.-L. Lo. 2009. Collaborating across cultural and technological boundaries: Team culture and information use in a map navigation task. In *Proceedings of the ACM International Workshop on Intercultural Collaboration (IWIC 2009)*, 175–84. New York: ACM.
- Dourish, P., and S. Bly. 1992. Portholes: Supporting awareness in a distributed work group. In *Proceedings of CHI '92*, 541–7. New York: ACM Press.
- Drolet, A. L., and M. W. Morris. 2000. Rapport in conflict resolution: Accounting for how nonverbal exchange fosters coordination on mutually beneficial settlements to mixed motive conflicts. *J Exp Soc Psychol* 36(1):26–50.
- Ducheneaut, N., and R. J. Moore. 2005. More than just 'XP': Learning social skills in massively multiplayer online games. *Interact Technol Smart Educ* 2:89–100.
- Egido, C. 1988. Video conferencing as a technology to support group work: A review of its failure. Paper presented at the CSCW '88, New York: ACM Press.
- Ehrlich, S. F. 1987. Strategies for encouraging successful adoption of office communication systems. *ACM Trans Office Inf Syst* 5:340–57.
- Ellis, C. A., S. J. Gibbs, and G. L. Rein. 1991. Groupware: Some issues and experiences. *CACM* 34(1):38–58.
- Ellis, C. A., and G. Nutt. 1980. Office information systems and computer science. *Comput Surv* 12(1):27–60.
- Elrod, S., R. Bruce, R. Gold, D. Goldberg, F. Halasz, W. Janssen, D. Lee et al. 1992. LiveBoard: A large interactive display supporting group meetings, presentations, and remote collaboration. In *Proceedings of CHI '92*, 599–607. Monterey, CA: ACM Press.
- Engelbart, D., and W. English. 1968. A research center for augmenting human intellect. *Proc FJCC* 33:395–410.
- Federal Trade Commission. 2005. E-mail address harvesting and the effectiveness of anti-spam filters. Report by Federal Trade Commission, Division of Marketing Practices. Washington, DC.
- Finholt, T. A. 2002. Collaboratories. In Annual Review of Information Science and Technology, ed. B. Cronin, 74–107. Washington, DC: American Society for Information Science.
- Finholt, T. A., and G. M. Olson. 1997. From laboratories to collaboratories: A new organizational form for scientific collaboration. *Psychol Sci* 8:28–36.
- Finholt, T., L. Sproull, and S. Kiesler. 1990. Communication and performance in ad hoc task groups. In *Intellectual Teamwork: Social and Technological Foundations of Cooperative Work*, ed. J. Galegher, R. Kraut, and C. Egido, 291–325. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Finn, K., A. Sellen, and S. Wilbur, eds. 1997. Video-Mediated Communication. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Fish, R. S., R. E. Kraut, R. W. Root, and R. E. Rice. 1993. Video as a technology for informal communication. *Commun ACM* 36(1):48–61.

- Fogerty, J., S. E. Hudson, C. G. Atkeson, D. Avrahami, J. Forlizzi, S. Kiesler, J. C. Lee, and J. Yang. 2005. Predicting human interruptibility with sensors. ACM Trans Comput Hum Interact 12:119–46.
- Foster, I., and C. Kesselman. 2004. *The Grid: Blueprint for a New Computing Infrastructure*. 2nd ed. San Francisco: Morgan Kaufmann.
- Fussell, S. R., R. E. Kraut, and J. Siegel. 2000. Coordination of communication: Effects of shared visual context on collaborative work. Paper presented at the CSCW 2000, New York: ACM Press.
- Gale, C., and A. Monk. 2000. Where am I looking? The accuracy of video-mediated gaze awareness. Percept Psychophys 62:586–95.
- Giles, J. 2005. Internet encyclopaedias go head to head. *Nature* 438:900–1.
- Godefroid, P., J. D. Herbsleb, L. J. Jagadeesan, and D. Li. 2000. Ensuring privacy in presence awareness systems: An automated verification approach. In *Proceedings of CSCW 2000*, 59–68. New York: ACM.
- Grayson, D. M., and A. Monk. 2003. Are you looking at me? Eye contact and desktop video conferencing. ACM Trans Comput Hum Interact 10(3):221–43.
- Greif, I., ed. 1988. Computer-Supported Cooperative Work: A Book of Readings. San Mateo, CA: Morgan Kaufmann.
- Grinter, R. E. 2000. Workflow systems: Occasions for success and failure. *Comput Support Coop Work* 9:189–214.
- Grudin, J. 1988. Why CSCW applications fail: Problems in the design and evaluation of organizational interfaces. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, 85–93. Portland, OR: ACM Press.
- Grudin, J. 1994. Groupware and social dynamics: Eight challenges for developers. *Commun ACM* 37(1):92–105.
- Grudin, J., and L. Palen. 1995. Why groupware succeeds: Discretion or mandate? In *Proceedings of the European Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, 263–78. Stockholm, Sweden: Springer.
- Grudin, J., and S. Poltrock. 2011. Taxonomy and theory in computer supported cooperative work. In Oxford Handbook of Organizational Psychology, ed. S. W. J. Kozlowski. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gunaratne, J. A., and A. J. B. Brush. 2010. Newport: Enabling sharing during mobile calls. In *Proceedings of CHI 2010*, 343–52. New York: ACM.
- Gutwin, C., and S. Greenberg. 1999. The effects of workspace awareness support on the usability of real-time distributed groupware. ACM Trans Comput Hum Interact 6:243–81.
- Hartmann, B., M. R. Morris, H. Benko, and A. D. Wilson. 2009. Augmenting interactive tables with mice & keyboards. In *Proceedings of UIST 2009*, 149–52. New York: ACM.
- Herbsleb, J. D., A. Mockus, T. A. Finholt, and R. E. Grinter. 2000. Distance, dependencies, and delay in a global collaboration. In *Proceedings of CSCW 2000*, 319–28. New York: ACM.
- Herlocker, J. L., J. A. Konstan, and J. Riedl. 2000. Explaining collaborative filtering recommendations. In *Proceedings of CSCW 2000*, 241–208250. New York: ACM.
- Hindmarsh, J., M. Fraser, C. Heath, S. Benford, and C. Greenhalgh. 1998. Fragmented Interaction: Establishing Mutual Orientation in Virtual Environments. In *Proceedings of Conference* on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work, 217–26. Portland, OR: ACM Press.
- Hollingshead, A. B., J. E. McGrath, and K. M. O'Connor. 1993. Group performance and communication technology: A longitudinal study of computer-mediated versus face-to-face work. *Small Group Res* 24:307–33.

- Horvitz, E., and J. Apacible. 2003. Learning and reasoning about interruption. In *Proceedings of the International Conference* on *Multimodal Interfaces*, 20–7. New York: ACM.
- Huang, W., J. S. Olson, and G. M. Olson. 2002. Camera angle affects dominance in video-mediated communication. Paper presented at the CHI 2002, New York: ACM Press.
- Huberman, B., D. M. Romero, and F. Wu. 2009. Social networks that matter: Twitter under the microscope. *First Monday*, 14(1).
- Isaacs, E., A. Walendowski, S. Whittaker, D. J. Schiano, and C. Kamm. 2002. The character, functions, and styles of instant messaging in the workplace. Paper presented at the CSCW 2002, New York: ACM Press.
- Isenberg, P., D. Fisher, M. R. Morris, K. Inkpen, and M. Czerwinski. 2010. An exploratory study of co-located collaborative visual analytics around a tabletop display. In *Proceedings of Visual Analytics Science and Technology*. Los Alamitos, CA: IEEE Computer Society.
- Jensen, C., S. D. Farnham, S. M. Drucker, and P. Kollock. 2000. The effect of communication modality on cooperation in on-line environments. In *Proceedings of CHI '2000*, 470–7. New York: ACM Press.
- Jones, M., and G. Marsden. 2006. *Mobile Interaction Design*. New York: Wiley.
- Karsenty, L. 1999. Cooperative work and shared visual context: An empirical study of comprehension problems in side-by-side and remote help dialogues. *Hum Comput Interact* 14:283–315.
- Kellogg, W. A., et al. 2006. Leveraging digital backchannels to enhance user experience in electronically mediated communication. In *Proceedings of CSCW 2006*, 451–4. New York: ACM.
- Kendon, A. 1967. Some functions of gaze direction in social interaction. Acta Psychol 26:22–63.
- Kiesler, S., and J. N. Cummings. 2002. What do we know about proximity and distance in work groups? A legacy of research. In *Distributed Work*, ed. P. J. Hinds and S. Kiesler, 57–80. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Kiesler, S., L. Sproull, and K. Waters. 1996. Prisoner's dilemma experiment on cooperation with people and human-like computers. J Pers Soc Psychol 70(1):47–65.
- Kittur, A., and R. E. Kraut. 2010. Beyond Wikipedia: Coordination and conflict in online production groups. In *Proceesings of CSCW 2010*, 215–24. New York: ACM.
- Klein, M., C. Dellarocas, and A. Bernstein. 2000. Introduction to the special issue on adaptive workflow systems. *Comput Support Coop Work* 9:265–7.
- Kraemer, K. L., and A. Pinsonneault. 1990. Technology and groups: Assessments of empirical research. In *Intellectual Teamwork: Social and Technological Foundations of Cooperative Work*, ed. J. Galegher, R Kraut, and C. Egido, 373–405. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Krauss, R. M., and P. D. Bricker. 1966. Effects of transmission delay and access delay on the efficiency of verbal communication. *J Acoust Soc* 41:286–92.
- Kraut, R. E., S. R. Fussell, and J. Siegel. 2003. Visual information as a conversational resource in collaborative physical tasks. *Hum Comput Interact* 18(1–2):13–39.
- Kraut, R. E., D. Gergle, and S. R. Fussell. 2002. The use of visual information in shared visual spaces: Informing the development of virtual co-presence. Paper presented at the CSCW 2002, New York: ACM Press.
- Kraut, R., S. Kiesler, B. Boneva, J. Cummings, V. Helgeson, and A. Crawford. 2002. Internet paradox revisited. J Soc Issues 58(1):49–74.
- Kraut, R., M. Patterson, V. Lundmark, S. Kiesler, T. Mukopadhyay, and W. Scherlis. 1998. Internet paradox: A social technology

that reduces social involvement and psychological well-being. *Am Psychol* 53:1017–31.

- Kraut, R. E., S. Sunder, R. Telang, and J. Morris. 2005. Pricing electronic mail to solve the problem of spam. *Hum Comput Interact* 20:195–223.
- Kurose, J. F., and K. W. Ross. 2009. *Computer Networking: A Top Down Approach*. 5th Ed. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Lange, B. M. 1992. Electronic group calendaring: Experiences and expectations. In *Groupware*, ed. D. Coleman, 428–32. San Mateo, CA: Morgan Kaufmann.
- Ling, R., and J. Donner. 2009. *Mobile Phones and Mobile Communications*. Malden, MA: Polity Press.
- Lipford, H. R., and G. D. Abowd. 2008. Reviewing meetings in TeamSpace. *Hum Comput Interact* 23:406–32.
- Longstaff, T.A., J. T. Ellis, S. V. Hernan, H. F. Lipson, R. D. Mc Millan, L. H. Pesanti, and D. Simmel. 1997. Security on the Internet. In *The Froehlich/Kent Encyclopedia of Telecommunications*, Vol. 15, 231–55. New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Luff, P., C. Heath, H. Kuzuoka, J. Hindmarsh, and S. Oyama. 2003. Fractured ecologies: Creating environments for collaboration. *Hum Comput Interact* 18(1–2):51–84.
- Mackay, W. E. 1989. Diversity in the use of electronic mail: A preliminary inquiry. ACM Trans Office Inf Syst 6:380–97.
- Malone, T. W., K. R. Grant, K. Y. Lai, R. Rao, and D. A. Rosenblitt. 1989. The information lens: An intelligent system for information sharing and coordination. In *Technological Support for Work Group Collaboration*, ed. M. H. Olson, 65–88. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Marca, D., and G. Bock. 1992. Groupware: Software for Computer-Supported Cooperative Work. Los Alamitos, CA: IEEE Computer Society Press.
- Mark, G., B. Al-Ani, and B. Semaan. 2009. Resilience through technology adoption: Merging the old and the new in Iraq. In *Proceedings of CHI 2009*, 689–98. New York: ACM.
- Mark, G., V. M. Gonzalez, and J. Harris. 2005. No task left behind? Examining the nature of fragmented work. In *Proceedings of CHI 2005*, 321–30. New York: ACM.
- Markus, M. L. 1983. *Systems in Organization: Bugs and Features*. San Jose, CA: Pitman.
- Markus, M. L., and T. Connolly. 1990. Why CSCW applications fail: Problems in the adoption of interdependent work tools. In Proceedings of the Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 371–80. Los Angeles, CA: ACM Press.
- McDaniel, S. E., G. M. Olson, and J. S. Magee. 1996. Identifying and analyzing multiple threads in computer-mediated and face-toface conversations. In *Proceeding of the ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, 39–47. Cambridge, MA: ACM Press.
- McLeod, P. L. 1992. An assessment of the experimental literature on electronic support of group work: Results of a meta-analysis. *Hum Comput Interact* 7:257–80.
- Miller, M. 2009. Cloud Computing: Web-Based Applications that Change the Way You Work and Collaborate Online. Indianapolis, IN: Cue Publishing.
- Monk, A., and C. Gale. 2002. A look is worth a thousand words: Full gaze awareness in video-mediated communication. *Discourse Process* 33(3):257–78.
- Moran, T. P., P. Chiu, S. Harrison, G. Kurtenbach, S. Minneman, and W. van Melle. 1996. Evolutionary engagement in an ongoing collaborative work process: A case study. In *Proceeding of the* ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 150–9. Cambridge, MA: ACM Press.
- Morris, M. R., J. Lombardo, and D. Wigdor. 2010. WeSearch: Supporting collaborative search and sensemaking on a

tabletop display. In *Proceedings of CSCW 2010*, 401–10. New York: ACM.

- Mosier, J. N., and S. G. Tammaro. 1997. When are group scheduling tools useful? *Comput Support Coop Work* 6:53–70.
- Muller, M. J., M. E. Raven, S. Kogan, D. R. Millen, and K. Carey. 2003. Introducing chat into business organizations: Toward an instant messaging maturity model. Paper presented at the GROUP '03, New York: ACM Press.
- Nardi, B. A. 2010. My Life as a Night elf Priest: An Anthropological Account of World of Warcraft. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Nardi, B. A., D. J. Schiano, M. Gumbrecht, and L. Swartz. 2004. Why we blog? *Commun ACM* 47(12):41–6.
- Nardi, B. A., H. Schwarz, A. Kuchinsky, R. Leichner, S. Whittaker, and R. Sclabassi. 1993. Turning away from talking heads: the use of video-as-data in neurosurgery. Paper presented at the CHI '93, New York: ACM Press.
- Nardi, B. A., and S. Whittaker. 2002. The place of face-to-face communication in distributed work. In *Distributed Work*, ed. P. Hinds and S. Kiesler, 83–110. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Nardi, B. A., S. Whittaker, and E. Bradner. 2000. Interaction and outeraction: Instant messaging in action. In *Proceedings of* the ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 79–88. Philadelphia, PA: ACM Press.
- National Research Council. 1993. National Collaboratories: Applying Information Technology for Scientific Research. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Nguyen, D., and J. Canny. 2007. MultiView: Improving trust in group video conferencing through spatial faithfulness. In *Proceedings of CSCW 2007*, 1465–74. New York: ACM.
- Nohria, N., and R. G. Eccles, eds. 1992. *Networks and Organizations: Structure, Form, and Action.* Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Nunamaker, J. F., A. R. Dennis, J. S. Valacich, D. R. Vogel, and J. F. George. 1991. Electronic meeting systems to support group work. *Commun ACM* 34(7):40–61.
- O'Conaill, B., S. Whittaker, and S. Wilbur. 1993. Conversations over videoconferences: An evaluation of the spoken aspects of video mediated communication. *Hum Comput Interact* 8:389–428.
- O'Hara-Devereaux, M., and R. Johansen. 1994. *Global Work: Bridging Distance, Culture & Time*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Okada, K., F. Maeda, Y. Ichicawaa, and Y. Matsushita. 1994. Multiparty videoconferencing at virtual social distance: MAJIC design. Paper presented at the CSCW '94, New York: ACM Press.
- Olson, G. M., D. Atkins, R. Clauer, T. Weymouth, A. Prakash, T. Finholt, F. Jahanian, and C. Rasmussen. 2001. Technology to support distributed team science: The first phase of the Upper Atmospheric Research Collaboratory (UARC) In *Coordination Theory and Collaboration Technology*, ed. G. M. Olson, T. Malone, and J. Smith, 761–83. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Olson, M. H., and S. A. Bly. 1991. The Portland experience: A report on a distributed research group. *Int J Man Mach Stud* 34:211–28.
- Olson, J. S., E. C. Hofer, N. Bos, A. Zimmerman, G. M. Olson, D. Cooney, and I. Faniel. 2008. A theory of remote scientific collaboration (TORSC). In *Scientific Collaboration on the Internet*, ed. G. M. Olson, A. Zimmerman, & N. Bos. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Olson, G. M., and J. S. Olson. 2000. Distance matters. *Hum Comput Interact* 15:139–79.

- Olson, J. S., G. M. Olson, and D. K. Meader. 1995. What mix of video and audio is useful for remote real-time work? In *Proceedings of CHI '95*, 362–8. Denver, CO: ACM Press.
- Olson, J. S., G. M. Olson, M. Storrøsten, and M. Carter. 1993. Group work close up: A comparison of the group design process with and without a simple group editor. ACM Trans Inform Syst 11:321–48.
- Olson, J. S., and S. Teasley. 1996. Groupware in the wild: Lessons learned from a year of virtual collocation. In *Proceeding of the ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, 419–27. Cambridge, MA: ACM Press.
- Olson, G. M., A. Zimmerman, and N. Bos. 2008. *Scientific Collaboration on the Internet*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Orlikowski, W. J., and D. C. Gash. 1994. Technological frames: Making sense of information technology in organizations. *ACM Trans Inf Syst* 12:174–207.
- Palen, L., and J. Grudin. 2002. Discretionary adoption of group support software: Lessons from calendar applications. In *Implementing Collaboration Technologies in Industry*, ed. B. E. Munkvold, 159–80. London: Springer-Verlag.
- Palen, L., S. Vieweg, S. Liu, and A. Hughes. 2009. Crisis in a networked world: Features of computer-mediated communication the April 16, 2007, Virginia Tech event. *Social Science Computing Review* 27(4):467–80.
- Park, K. S., A. Kapoor, and J. Leigh. 2000. Lessons learned from employing multiple perspective in a collaborative virtual environment for visualizing scientific data. In *Proceedings* of ACM CVE '2000 Conference on Collaborative Virtual Environments, 73–82. San Francisco, CA: ACM Press.
- Prinz, W., and S. Kolvenbach. 1996. Support for workflows in a ministerial environment. In *Proceedings of the Conference* on Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 199–208. Cambridge, MA: ACM Press.
- Putnam, R. D. 2000. Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Resnick, P. 2002. Beyond bowling together: Sociotechnical capital. In *Human-Computer Interaction in the New Millennium*, ed. J. M. Carroll, 647–72. New York: ACM Press.
- Resnick, P., and H. R. Varian, eds. 1997. Special section: Recommender systems. *Commun ACM* 40(3):56–89.
- Rheingold, H. 2002. *Smart Mobs: The Next Social Revolution*. New York: Basic Books.
- Robertson, G., M. Czerwinski, P. Baudisch, B. Meyers, D. Robbins, G. Smith, and D. Tan. 2005. The large—display user experience. *IEEE Comput Graph Appl* 25(4):44–51.
- Rocco, E. 1998. Trust breaks down in electronic contexts but can be repaired by some initial face-to-face contact. In *Proceedings* of CHI '98, 496–502. Los Angeles, CA: ACM Press.
- Rocco, E., T. Finholt, E. C. Hofer, and J. D. Herbsleb. 2000. *Designing as if Trust Mattered*. (CREW Technical Report). Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan.
- Ruhleder, K., and B. Jordan. 2001. Co-constructing non-mutual realities: Delay-generated trouble in distributed interaction. *Comput Support Coop Work* 10(1):113–38.
- Satzinger, J., and L. Olfman. 1992. A research program to assess user perceptions of group work support. In *Proceeding of CHI* '92, 99–106. Monterey, CA: ACM Press.
- Schafer, W. A., C. H. Ganoe, and J. M. Carroll. 2007. Supporting community emergency management planning through a geocollaboration software architecture. *Comput Support Coop Work* 16:501–37.
- Schafer, J. B., J. Konstan, and J. Riedl. 2001. Electronic commerce recommender applications. J Data Min Knowledge Discovery 5(1/2):115–52.

- Schatz, B. R., and J. B. Hardin. 1994. NCSA Mosaic and the World Wide Web: Global hypermedia protocols for the Internet. *Science* 265:895–901.
- Schmandt, C., and S. Marti. 2005. Active messenger: E-mail filtering and delivery in a heterogeneous network. *Hum Comput Interact* 20:163–94.
- Schmidt, K. 2002. The problem with 'awareness.' *Comput Support Coop Work* 11:285–98.
- Schmidt, K. 2010. 'Keep up the good work!': The concept of 'work' in CSCW. In *Proceedings of COOP 2010*, 265–85. London: Springer-Verlag.
- Setlock, L. D., S. R. Fussell, and C. Neuwirth. 2004. Taking it out of context: Collaborating within and across cultures in faceto-face settings and via instant messaging. In *Proceedings of CSCW 2004*, 604–13. New York: ACM.
- Short, J., E. Williams, and B. Christie. 1976. *The Social Psychology* of *Telecommunications*. New York: Wiley.
- Siegel, J., V. Dubrovsky, S. Kiesler, and T. W. McGuire. 1986. Group processes in computer-mediated communication. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 37(2):157–87.
- Singhal, S., and M. Zyda. 1999. *Networked Virtual Environments:* Design and Implementation. New York: Addison-Wesley.
- Sproull, L., and S. Kiesler. 1991. Connections: New Ways of Working in the Networked Organization. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Starner, T., and B. Rhodes. 2004. Wearable computer. In *Berkshire Encyclopedia of Human-Computer Interaction*, ed. W. S. Bainbridge, Vol. 2, 797–802. Great Barrington, MA: Berkshire Publishing Group.
- Straus, S. G. 1996. Getting a clue: The effects of communication media and information distribution on participation and performance in computer-mediated and face-to-face groups. *Small Group Res* 1:115–42.
- Straus, S. G. 1997. Technology, group process, and group outcomes: Testing the connections in computer-mediated and face-toface groups. *Hum Comput Interact* 12(3):227–66.
- Straus, S. G., and J. E. McGrath. 1994. Does the medium matter: The interaction of task and technology on group performance and member reactions. *J Appl Psychol* 79:87–97.
- Tanenbaum, A. S. 2011. Computer networks (5th Ed.). Boston: Pearson Education.
- Tang, J. C., and E. Isaacs. 1993. Why do users like video? Comput Support Coop Work 1(3):163–96.
- Tang, A., M. Tory, B. Po, P. Neumann, and S. Carpendale. 2006. Collaborative coupling over table top displays. In *Proceedings* of CHI 2006, 1181–90. New York: ACM.
- Tang, J. C., N. Yankelovich, J. Begole, M. van Kleek, F. Li, and J. Bhalodia. 2001. ConNexus to Awarenex: Extending awareness to mobile users. In *Proceedings of CHI 2001*, 221–8. New York: ACM.
- Teasley, S. D., L. A. Covi, M. S. Krishnan, and J. S. Olson. 2002. Rapid software development through team collocation. *IEEE Trans Software Eng* 28:671–83.
- Veinott, E., J. S. Olson, G. M. Olson, and X. Fu. 1999. Video helps remote work: Speakers who need to negotiate common ground benefit from seeing each other. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Computer-Human Interaction, CHI '99*, 302–9. Pittsburgh, PA: ACM Press.

- Vertegaal, R. 1999. The GAZE groupware system: Mediating joint attention in multiparty communication and collaboration. Paper presented at the CHI '99, New York: ACM Press.
- Vertegaal, R., R. Slagter, G. van der Veer, and A. Nijholt. 2001. Eye gaze patterns in conversations: There is more to conversational agents than meets the eye. Paper presented at the CHI 2001, New York: ACM Press.
- Viegas, F. B., M. Wattenberg, and K. Dave. 2004. Studying cooperation and conflict between authors with history flow visualizations. In *Proceedings of CHI 2004*, 575–82. New York: ACM.
- Vieweg, S., A. Hughes, K. Starbird, and L. Palen. 2010. Microblogging during two natural hazard events: What Twitter may contribute to situational awareness. In *Proceedings of CHI 2010*, 1079–88. New York: ACM.
- Wang, H.-C., S. R. Fussell, and L. D. Setlock. 2009. Cultural difference and adaptation of communication styles in computermediated group brainstorming. In *Proceedings of CHI 2009*, 669–78. New York: ACM.
- Wellman, B. 2002. Little boxes, globalization, and networked individualism? In P. van den Besselaar & T. Ishida (eds.), *Digital Cities II: Computational and Sociological Approaches*, 10–25. Berlin: Springer.
- Whittaker, S. 2005. Supporting collaborative task management in e-mail. *Hum Comput Interact* 20:49–88.
- Whittaker, S., V. Bellotti, and P. Moody. 2005. Introduction to this special issue on revisiting and reinventing e-mail. *Hum Comput Interact* 10:1–9.
- Whittaker, S., E. Geelhoed, and E. Robinson. 1993. Shared workspaces: How do they work and when are they useful? *Int J Man Mach Stud* 39(5):813–42.
- Whittaker, S., and C. Sidner. 1996. E-mail overload: Exploring personal information management of e-mail. In *Proceeding of CHI* '96, 276–83. Vancouver, BC: ACM Press.
- Williams, E. 1977. Experimental comparisons of face-to-face and mediated communication: A review. *Psychol Bull* 84:963–76.
- Wilson, S., J. Galliers, and J. Fone. 2006. Not all sharing is equal: The impact of a large display on small group collaborative work. In *Proceedings of CSCW 2006*, 25–8. New York: ACM.
- Wiltse, H., and J. Nichols. 2009. PlayByPlay: Collaborative web browsing for desktop and mobile devices. In *Proceedings of CHI 2009*, 1781–90. New York: ACM.
- Winograd, T. 1988. A language/action perspective on the design of cooperative work. *Hum Comput Interact* 3:3–30.
- Wong, A., and A. Young. 2009. *Network Infrastructure Security*. New York: Springer.
- Yang, H., and G. M. Olson. 2002. Exploring collaborative navigation: The effect of perspectives on group performance. In *Proceedings of CVE '02*, 135–42. New York: ACM Press.
- Zhao, D., and M. B. Rosson. 2009 How and why people Twitter: The role that micro-blogging plays in information communication at work. In *Proceedings of GROUP 2009*, 243–52. New York: ACM.
- Zheng, J., N. Bos, J. S. Olson, D. Gergle, and G. M. Olson. 2001. Trust without touch: Jump-start trust with social chat. Paper presented at the Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI-2001. Seatle, WA: ACM Press.